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          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Good afternoon

          3  ladies and gentlemen.

          4                 My name is Thomas White, Jr.  I am

          5  Chair of the Committee on Economic Development, and

          6  today's hearing will focus on the "Retail

          7  Development and the Staten Island Ferry Terminals."

          8                 The Staten Island Ferry operates 24

          9  hours a day, 365 days a year, and carries 19 million

         10  passengers annually on a 5.2 mile route between the

         11  St. George Terminal in Staten Island and the

         12  Whitehall Terminal in Manhattan.  The Ferry makes

         13  110 trips carrying approximately 65,000 persons per

         14  day.

         15                 On February 8th, 2005, the renovated

         16  200,000 square foot Whitehall Terminal was

         17  re-opened.  The renovation included a 19,000 square

         18  foot waiting room, a 6,000 square foot for

         19  concession space, 10,000 square feet for office

         20  space, and 10,000 square feet of ancillary support

         21  and ferry operation rooms.

         22                 On May 20th, 2005, the renovated St.

         23  George Terminal was opened.  The $130 million

         24  renovation of the 55-year old terminal featured

         25  floor-to-ceiling glass and panoramic views of the
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          2  harbor and incoming ferries.  The new terminal's

          3  steel and glass design provides natural lighting and

          4  views of the Manhattan skyline.  The ADA-compliant

          5  facility features heated and air conditioned waiting

          6  rooms accessible by escalator and elevator, and

          7  20,000 square feet of newly constructed retail

          8  space.  A pedestrian walkway connects Richmond

          9  Terrace and the terminal entry, while another

         10  walkway provides a scenic link to the nearby

         11  minor-league ballpark.

         12                 The Committee is interested in the

         13  economic development opportunities offered by the

         14  Staten Island Ferry Terminal, and intends to raise a

         15  number of relevant questions and issues regarding

         16  their development.

         17                 I would like to thank the

         18  Administration, the Ferry Riders Committee,

         19  residents, elected officials and advocates for

         20  testifying today, and I look forward to a productive

         21  hearing on this important issue.

         22                 With that being said, I would like to

         23  ask a member of the Committee, my colleague, Council

         24  Member McMahon, if he does have a statement?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I do, Mr.
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          2  Chairman, and before we begin I just want to thank

          3  you and the Counsel to the Committee, John Smyth,

          4  for taking the time and the interest in this issue,

          5  which at first blush may appear to be local in

          6  nature, but as you understood as we talked about it,

          7  this really is of Citywide import because the Staten

          8  Island Ferry is not only the vital commuting line

          9  for 65,000 people a day, but it's also one of the

         10  major tourist attractions, and could be a great

         11  economic engine for all the City of New York if this

         12  space that we're going to talk about today were

         13  handled properly.

         14                 So, I thank you for taking the time

         15  to do this hearing, and also hearing the plea of

         16  Council Member Oddo and myself to get this done.

         17                 At this risk of being somewhat

         18  cheeky, Mr. Chairman, I have to correct your opening

         19  statement because you said that this was about the

         20  retail development at the Staten Island Ferry

         21  Terminal.  It should really be about the lack of

         22  retail development at the Staten Island Ferry, and

         23  you know what I mean because this has been, for

         24  Staten Islanders, a situation that is really just

         25  really indescribably frustrating, and
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          2  incomprehensible that the City could allow for

          3  really two years plus, since the ferry terminals

          4  were officially opened, when one thinks about it,

          5  really four or five years there has been

          6  mismanagement and lack of planning of this space.

          7                 As you said in your opening

          8  statement, on the Staten Island side there's 20,000

          9  square feet of possible retail space that sits empty

         10  now, and on the New York City side at Whitehall,

         11  6,000 square feet.  But for a cold, wrapped in

         12  plastic sandwich, on the Staten Island side, and

         13  perhaps a stale pretzel on the Manhattan side, there

         14  are no opportunities to purchase any food for

         15  commuters.  There is no active retail possibilities

         16  to capture the dollars of the millions and millions

         17  of tourists and visitors who ride the ferry every

         18  day, and it just is mindboggling.

         19                 We Staten Islanders, we do have a

         20  complex, a well founded one we believe, in terms of

         21  being neglected by the City fathers.  But certainly,

         22  if Grand Central Station or Penn Station had this

         23  space available, we know that it would not have been

         24  allowed to lie fallow for such a long time.  Now

         25  someone will say, "Well councilman, these were
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          2  unusual circumstances, and how can you say that

          3  Staten Island has been mistreated here by the

          4  planners from EDC and from DOT on this?"  Well Mr.

          5  Chairman, one only has to look at the ballpark less

          6  than 200 feet from the stadium, the beautiful

          7  stadium that was somehow built within a year, that

          8  somehow land was acquired, and a stadium was built.

          9  But there's a large retail space available in that

         10  facility as well, and unlike KeySpan Park in

         11  Brooklyn, which there happens to be an Irish

         12  restaurant and tavern, and some other things there,

         13  this space also is empty because there's no passion,

         14  there's no vision, there's no desire of the part of

         15  the City to fill that space as well.  So, imagine

         16  that you've got the availability of a restaurant

         17  right there next to the St. George Ferry at the

         18  ballpark which has been empty for years.

         19                 So, that's why I'm a little more

         20  outraged than normal because this is a pattern here,

         21  and this is a neglect that the people of Staten

         22  Island, the commuters, shouldn't have to suffer.

         23  Back in the day when we were young, well, many years

         24  ago, at the Staten Island Station you had a full

         25  service restaurant with white linen tablecloths.
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          2  You had a post office. You had a dry cleaners.  You

          3  had a coffee shop.  You had a diner. You had things

          4  that people would use, not only to commute but also

          5  as a destination.  I think the experience of Grand

          6  Central Terminal and Penn Station have showed us

          7  that transportation hubs can be much more, if those

          8  who are planning it, put the time and the effort

          9  into it, and I know that there was contract with the

         10  company, Ferry Terminal Management Group, and at the

         11  time that that was testified to by the previous

         12  Commissioner of the Department of Transportation, we

         13  raised the flag because we said that that type of

         14  scenario, the way that's structured, it will not

         15  work, and there has to be more creativity.  There

         16  has to be more effort given for the people of Staten

         17  Island.

         18                 So we think that this is a very

         19  critical hearing for the commuters from Staten

         20  Island, and we are very grateful to you.  We look

         21  forward to finding out today, quite frankly, what

         22  the heck is going on, and how could this space be

         23  empty for so long.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 Let me first of all recognize a

          3  colleague and a committee member, Council Member

          4  Palma, for being here, and the Minority Leader,

          5  Councilman James Oddo.

          6                 We're going to hear, and hopefully

          7  we're going to get some answers and some insight

          8  into the concerns.  It is this Committee's mission

          9  and commitment, and concern, to see to it that

         10  economic development in this City moves forward

         11  without impediment.  But at the same time, that the

         12  people who live in this city share and enjoy the

         13  fruits of progress.  That the people progress along

         14  with development, and what we're going to do is, as

         15  you well know, we've targeted all of the major

         16  projects and those that have been overlooked in the

         17  five boroughs.  We've been to Brooklyn, I mean we've

         18  been to Queens, we're in Staten Island.  Our next

         19  stop is Brooklyn, and we're going to go back to

         20  Queens, and we're going to start taking a look at

         21  these types of nebulous kinds commitments that are

         22  made in the name of economic development.  But as

         23  you say, it's not a wholesome approach to an entire

         24  development piece where you leave gaps in the

         25  development, where people make statements where
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          2  they're going to do A, B, C, D, and E, and they only

          3  do A and B, and we look forward to C, D, and E

          4  coming in, and it never is forthcoming so far.  But

          5  we're going to try to move the process along.

          6                 I would like to recognize my

          7  colleague, Councilwoman James for joining us, and

          8  what we're going to now is I'm going to ask that

          9  Venetia Lannon from EDC, and Captain James De Simone

         10  from DOT come up.  Welcome.

         11                 MS. LANNON:  Before I start, just a

         12  note that the second version you got, there were

         13  some sentences left out, it's the same testimony

         14  just with a complete testimony that I'm reading.

         15                 Good afternoon Chairman White, and

         16  members of the Economic Development Committee.  My

         17  name is Venetia Lannon, and I am Senior Vice

         18  President of the Maritime Division at the New York

         19  City Economic Development Corporation, or EDC.  With

         20  me here today is Captain James DeSimone, the

         21  Department of Transportation's Chief Operating

         22  Officer for the Staten Island Ferry.

         23                 EDC, through its maritime contract

         24  with the City of New York, oversees development of

         25  the City's maritime assets. In this capacity, we are
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          2  assisting the New York City Department of

          3  Transportation, or DOT, to redevelop the retail

          4  areas of the Staten Island ferry terminals, which

          5  currently fall under DOT jurisdiction.

          6                 In my testimony this afternoon, I

          7  will briefly review the background that resulted in

          8  the current lack of restaurants and retail outlets

          9  in the new terminals, describe EDC's new retail

         10  vision for reinvigorating the spaces, and provide a

         11  progress update on the strategy we are implementing

         12  to make that vision a reality.

         13                 I'll start with some background.  In

         14  2005, the City unveiled two new ferry terminals for

         15  the Staten Island Ferry, the Whitehall Terminal,

         16  located in Lower Manhattan, and the St. George

         17  Terminal, located on Staten Island.  Constructed by

         18  EDC on behalf of DOT, both of these terminals were

         19  dramatic improvements over their predecessors,

         20  featuring soaring ceilings, an abundance of natural

         21  light and seating areas, increased security and

         22  state- of- the- art facilities.  Each year over 19

         23  million people use these new terminals, nearly

         24  65,000 riders per weekday, including thousands of

         25  tourists.
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          2                 Additionally, approximately 6,500

          3  square feet of retail concession space was created

          4  in the Whitehall Terminal, and over 20,000 square

          5  feet in the St. George Terminal, as you noted

          6  Chairman in your intro.

          7                 In 2004, DOT entered into a 20- year

          8  master lease with a privately- owned company to

          9  lease, market and sublease the retail and

         10  advertising spaces in both terminals, as well as the

         11  food concessions and advertising aboard the ferries.

         12    In addition, this company was responsible for

         13  installing utilities and infrastructure to the

         14  retail areas, and for general maintenance of the

         15  common areas in the terminals.

         16                 DOT was dissatisfied with the

         17  company's progress, and last year negotiated a

         18  restatement and partial surrender of the company's

         19  20- year lease with DOT.  That legal work has now

         20  been finalized.

         21                 In anticipation of the partial

         22  surrender of the current master lease, last year DOT

         23  requested assistance from EDC to develop a retail

         24  vision for the terminals, and a new strategy to

         25  improve management of the retail spaces.  In
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          2  response, EDC retained a team of economic and retail

          3  consultants led by Economic Research Associates to

          4  conduct a market study and passenger survey, and to

          5  develop a retail strategy for the terminals.  This

          6  team also included Jeanne Giordano, a retail expert

          7  who managed the redevelopment of the retail areas,

          8  and the public market in Grand Central Terminal of

          9  behalf of the MTA. The team completed that study and

         10  recommended an overall strategy for the City to

         11  follow late last year.

         12                 EDC has continued to research best

         13  practices by interviewing companies and agencies

         14  that manage other transit related retail areas.

         15  These included retail areas at Newark, LaGuardia and

         16  JFK airports, and rail stations, such as South

         17  Station in Boston and Grand Central Terminal.

         18                 Our new retail strategy for both

         19  terminals will ensure high quality tenants providing

         20  services that ferry riders demand.  In addition to

         21  high quality restaurants and retail, the strategy

         22  calls for developing displays and signage that will

         23  encourage the many tourists who ride the Staten

         24  Island ferry to get off of the boats and explore

         25  Staten Island.  The retail in the St. George
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          2  Terminal will have a "Taste of Staten Island" theme,

          3  and will feature the best of local Staten Island

          4  restaurants and businesses, rather than catering to

          5  national fast food chains.  The Whitehall Terminal

          6  retail will reflect a mix of unique Manhattan

          7  retailers that will attract office workers in the

          8  area and create a new local meeting spot.

          9                 To transform this vision into reality

         10  as quickly as possible, EDC and DOT have

         11  cooperatively worked out a plan to transfer

         12  management of the retail space in each terminal to

         13  EDC through a new master lease between our agencies.

         14                 This will allow EDC to use its

         15  expertise as well as that of our consultants to

         16  target the procurement of tenants of those that best

         17  fit into this vision in an expedited manner.  EDC

         18  will continue to retain Jeanne Giordano to manage

         19  the marketing and subleases of the spaces, in a role

         20  similar to the one she play at Grand Central.

         21                 I can assure you today that this

         22  project is a top priority for both of our agencies.

         23  We have taken time to be thorough and thoughtful in

         24  developing a good plan, and things are now moving

         25  rapidly.  A lease between EDC and DOT is being
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          2  drafted and is expected to be executed shortly.  We

          3  have drafted a Request for Proposals for new

          4  tenants, and will release it within the next week.

          5  We have assembled a list of prospective tenants who

          6  have expressed interest in the terminals or who fit

          7  well with our vision for the spaces.

          8                 Projecting that tenants will need

          9  several months to fit out their spaces before

         10  opening due to the necessary infrastructure work,

         11  the first new stores are expected to open this

         12  summer.

         13                 While I think we all wish that this

         14  could happen faster, I hope that I have provided an

         15  overview of some of the obstacles we have faced, and

         16  that you will support the strategy we are now

         17  implementing.  Procuring consultants, transferring

         18  management between City agencies, executing leases,

         19  and securing capital funds takes time, but we think

         20  that this more deliberate, strategic approach is

         21  grounded in the realities of the retail marketplace,

         22  and will begin to pay off in the near future.

         23                 In the meantime, DOT has been adding

         24  amenities until the retail spaces are complete.

         25  November 6 saw the first Farmer's Market on the
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          2  concourse level of the Whitehall Terminal, providing

          3  a wide variety of plants, fruits, baked goods and

          4  local meats.

          5                 The U.S. Postal Service is working to

          6  conclude an agreement with their contractor to build

          7  out a space designated at the St. George Terminal,

          8  with construction beginning by mid December and the

          9  Post Office opening this spring.

         10                 DOT is also working with a street

         11  fair vendor to present a Holiday Fair this year at

         12  the Whitehall Terminal, and in the process have both

         13  terminals decorated for the Holiday Season.  This

         14  will provide a pleasant and convenient seasonal

         15  venue in which to purchase holiday gifts.

         16                 Finally, DOT is also exploring ways

         17  to bring live music and performances into the

         18  Terminal, similar to the well received MTA "Music

         19  Under New York" program.  DOT is planning to utilize

         20  the terminals to host a portion of the city- wide

         21  Under the Radar Festival, as well, for several days

         22  in January 2008.

         23                 In closing, we foresee attractive,

         24  vital new terminals coming on line next summer,

         25  which will provide Staten Islanders, other New
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          2  Yorkers, and tourists with a variety of new retail

          3  options that fit their needs, provide healthy local

          4  alternatives to the standard chains, and will

          5  encourage thousands of tourists each week to get off

          6  of the boats, and begin to explore all that Staten

          7  Island has to offer.

          8                 Thank you for your time, and I will

          9  be happy to answer any questions you may have.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, thank you

         11  very much.

         12                 Just a few questions.  How much

         13  retail commercial space exists in the St. George and

         14  Whitehall Terminals, respectively?

         15                 MS. LANNON:  On page two, it's 6,500

         16  square feet of retail in Whitehall, and over 20,000,

         17  approximately 20,000 square feet on the Staten

         18  Island side.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Well, how much

         20  retail commercial space is presently occupied at the

         21  St. George Terminal, and the Whitehall Terminals?

         22                 MS. LANNON:  About 5,000 square feet

         23  is currently leased by FTMG at Whitehall, leaving us

         24  15,000 open square feet. They have 5,000, so we get

         25  15,000 and on the Whitehall side, I don't remember
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          2  the number exactly.  I think they have 1,000 leased

          3  up right now, and we have 4,000 to go, to lease up.

          4  Does that make sense?

          5                 Maybe I should re- state that.

          6  There's a total of 20,000 square feet of retail

          7  space on Staten Island, 5,000 of that is currently

          8  leased.  There is 15,000 to be leased up.  On the

          9  Manhattan side, there is 6,500 square feet total,

         10  and I believe, this number I'm not as sure of, I

         11  think between 1,000 and 1,500 is leased up.  So

         12  whatever the balance is there, you can do the math.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Five thousand.

         14                 MS. LANNON:  Right, approximately.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  I'm going to

         16  reserve some questions.

         17                 MS. LANNON:  Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  I'm going to

         19  defer to my colleague, Council Member McMahon.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you,

         21  Mr. Chairman.

         22                 Ms. Lannon, we hated to loose you on

         23  trash and solid waste management plan, but I think

         24  it's good news  --  if I walk away with any good

         25  news today, I don't know a lot but it will be that
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          2  you are now heading up this effort for the EDC, and

          3  for the City, and so we expect to have miracles

          4  occur with you being there.

          5                 MS. LANNON:  You know my heart is

          6  still in garbage.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I do know

          8  that, our hearts will all always be in garbage.

          9  That's what makes you a true Staten Islander being

         10  that way.

         11                 I have to express to you that Staten

         12  Islanders in particular, and certainly all New

         13  Yorkers when you think that the Staten Island Ferry

         14  has the second most visits of tourists of any place

         15  in the City of New York, and that the opportunities

         16  that have been missed here, it seems to me that we

         17  have to just review a little bit what happened and

         18  why, and how can we be assured that the past is not

         19  prologue here?

         20                 You said that in 2004 a lease was

         21  entered into with Ferry Terminal Management Group.

         22  Would you say that that was mis-handled?  That was a

         23  bad lease, and is that why we are where we are

         24  today?

         25                 MS. LANNON:  That lease predates my
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          2  involvement in the project, but I don't think it was

          3  mis-handled.  I think that the company was not up to

          4  the task.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Well,

          6  wouldn't that be called mis-handled?

          7                 MS. LANNON:  On that part of the

          8  company, or on the part of the City?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  On the part

         10  of the City, obviously, the planning process that's

         11  in place now was certainly a lot different than, as

         12  I understood it, there was no planning process in

         13  place earlier.  An RFP was put out, a company

         14  responded, they obviously didn't have the

         15  wherewithal to provide the service that the

         16  commuters and visitors are entitled to.  So,

         17  something's wrong because it's three years later,

         18  and the only thing you can get is a bad cup of

         19  coffee and a stale roll.

         20                 So, was it mis-handled by the City?

         21                 MS. LANNON:  I wouldn't characterize

         22  it that it was mis-handled by the City.  I think the

         23  company has mis-handled the operations of the ferry

         24  terminal.  I don't really know what to say beyond

         25  that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Well, the

          3  study that was issued in 2006 by Giordano and the

          4  ERA, was a study like this done before the contract

          5  was signed in 2004?  I never heard of one.

          6                 MR. DESIMONE:  I'm not aware of one,

          7  and of course obviously, if the two of us are at a

          8  disadvantage because we didn't go back that far.

          9  But I do now that insofar as DOT, I think anyone at

         10  DOT would `fess up' to the idea that DOT is not a

         11  retail agent, and I think the agency did its best to

         12  try--

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I'm sorry,

         14  Jim, but why didn't  --  you should identify

         15  yourself actually for the record.

         16                 MS. DESIMONE:  Oh, excuse me.  James

         17  DeSimone, Chief Operating Officer for the Staten

         18  Island Ferry.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So Captain,

         20  why back in 2004, and 2003, and 2002, and 2001, and

         21  2000, and I go can back to the fire of 1993 on the

         22  Whitehall side, during all that time, why wasn't

         23  this given over to EDC at that point?

         24                 If DOT wasn't in the business of

         25  doing this retail space, why did they do it?
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          2                 MR. DESIMONE:  I can't answer that.

          3  I can only speak to what I know, and I think that

          4  the agency basically used its best efforts to

          5  conclude a lease, and I think that, obviously, FTMG

          6  did not perform and when that became apparent, DOT

          7  took the actions necessary to buy them out of the

          8  lease, and then go to EDC and see what could be done

          9  to really promote this thing.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay, but

         11  you will agree that the way it was handled the first

         12  time was not  --  if you don't want to say mis-

         13  handled, you will at least give me that it was not

         14  optimal.

         15                 MS. LANNON:  It was not optimal,

         16  councilman.  I agree.  I think that I would imagine

         17  that because DOT had managed the retail component in

         18  the old terminals, that there was just an

         19  understanding that they would move forward in that

         20  role.  I think that given that so much retail space

         21  was added, it was a degree of complexity perhaps, or

         22  it requires a degree of retail management and

         23  specialization that I agree was not an optimal fit

         24  with DOT.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So how do we
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          2  know that we are going to end up with  --  I mean

          3  the Nathan's sign has been up for three years.  How

          4  do we know it's not going to be up for another three

          5  years?

          6                 MS. LANNON:  Because I think, again,

          7  because we have done our  --  because I think that

          8  EDC is an optimal fit for developing a retail

          9  strategy.  I think because we have taken the time to

         10  deliberately come up with a plan and work with

         11  experts such as Jeanne Giordano who, quite frankly,

         12  was at the beginning of Grand Central, I think she's

         13  very humble but I would say she singlehandedly

         14  turned around what happened.  I mean, you remember

         15  Grand Central retail under the old terminal.

         16                 So we have a team in place, we have

         17  experts in place, we have a process in place that I

         18  think we're going to get the job done.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  The report

         20  of 2006, why wasn't this published or issued or

         21  delivered to us, and that we just got it recently?

         22                 MS. LANNON:  Again, I really am not

         23  able to answer that question.  I don't know.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Under normal

         25  circumstances this is something that would  --  I
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          2  mean, when we finally got the--

          3                 MS. LANNON:  It's a public document.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But when we

          5  first received it, we were all in shock that it had

          6  been in existence for almost a year, and that it had

          7  never been provided to us, and we didn't know of its

          8  existence, and we get everything, as my colleague

          9  points out.

         10                 So, it makes me suspicious that this

         11  existed and it wasn't provided to us, and it was

         12  only from a local reporter that we found out that it

         13  exists.

         14                 MS. LANNON:  Again, I can't speak to

         15  why a past transmission didn't happen.  I will say

         16  that moving forward we want to very actively involve

         17  this Committee, the council members of Staten

         18  Island, the Staten Island Chamber of Commerce.  We

         19  want to be reaching out to a number of people to

         20  make sure that our retail strategy is sound, is what

         21  the people of Staten Island, and quite frankly, on

         22  the Manhattan side too, makes sense.

         23                 So, I can't speak to why a previous

         24  lack of communication occurred, but I can assure

         25  you, moving forward, we want to ensure maximum
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          2  conversation with the people who know what they

          3  want.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes, as you were

          5  speaking, and the mere fact that you're talking

          6  about moving forward, and not having enough

          7  knowledge that pre- dates you, how long have you

          8  been in your current position?

          9                 MS. LANNON:  I've been in this

         10  position since, well, I've been at EDC since 2003.

         11  I started working on this project this past summer.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, and you,

         13  sir?

         14                 MR. DESIMONE:  I have been with DOT

         15  since 2004.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  This project I'm

         17  talking about.

         18                 MR. DESIMONE:  Well, this project has

         19  sort have been  --  that's where I live and work,

         20  I'm there in the ferry terminal, so.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, well let me

         22  ask this.           My colleague just made me aware

         23  that, and I don't have any information that my

         24  colleagues have, the Chair doesn't have that

         25  information, and I'd like to respectfully request

                                                            26

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  that you get a copy--

          3                 MS. LANNON:  Absolutely, we'll get a

          4  copy of that to the--

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: --  to all of the

          6  Committee members of that report.

          7                 MS. LANNON:  Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Secondly, is

          9  there any other documentation that we should have

         10  that would give us a better understanding on what

         11  you're working on, the timetable, the anticipated

         12  completion as the project moves on?

         13                 MS. LANNON:  I think that that

         14  document really  -- I don't know if you've had a

         15  chance to look at it, I think really envisions and

         16  pretty clearly lays out right down to sort of the

         17  square footage that we envision of different uses,

         18  survey's that we conducted of the riders and the

         19  tourists, and what they would like to see.  I think

         20  that that document, it summarizes all of the

         21  planning that has been done to date.  I think that

         22  that's the relevant document in terms of where we

         23  stand right now.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  So, how long do

         25  you think it's going to come to fruition?
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          2                 MS. LANNON:  I think--

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Based on that

          4  document?  I mean, bear in mind there's margin for

          5  error, okay?

          6                 MS. LANNON: --  yes, there's always

          7  margin for error, but I think we are looking  --

          8  the new master lease between our two agencies should

          9  be executed by the end of this year.  We will be

         10  performing the utility work in the remaining spaces,

         11  sort of bringing the spaces up to, sort of, leasable

         12  condition.

         13                 Over the spring, at the same time,

         14  we'll be working with our retail consultant to enter

         15  into sub- leases with the tenants.  The tenants then

         16  will come in and do their improvements to the

         17  spaces.  We just, sort of, bring it to a plain box

         18  that has basic utilities.  They take it from there.

         19  We anticipate that that will take several months.

         20                 So, all of these things are happening

         21  at the same time between the lease, the sub- leases,

         22  the utility work, and then the tenant fit- out work

         23  will all be happening over the spring and early

         24  summer, such that we envision that the first retail

         25  spaces will be open summer`08.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  So you're

          3  marketing the space?

          4                 MS. LANNON:  Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  You have a list

          6  of those individuals you're marketing?

          7                 MS. LANNON:  Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Do you have

          9  commitments, or tentative letters of agreement--

         10                 MS. LANNON:  No, not yet.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE: -- of who is going

         12  to occupy this space?

         13                 MS. LANNON:  Several companies have

         14  expressed interest to us, but we don't have, sort

         15  of, binding agreements with them yet.  That's what

         16  we'll be working on, the actual sub lease's

         17  themselves, this spring.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  So we can't

         19  actually say when they're going to open then?  If

         20  you don't have a firm commitment on who's going to

         21  occupy A space, B space, C space, then you don't

         22  know really.  That's what I meant by the margin of

         23  error.

         24                 MS. LANNON:  That is the margin of

         25  error.  We have confidence that if we fit- out the
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          2  spaces with utilities, we don't believe there's any

          3  lack of market demand for these retail spaces.  I

          4  mean, I think the council people on Staten Island

          5  can tell you, we get requests from people all the

          6  time.  So, it's not for a lack of marketability or

          7  desire, there's some basic utility work that needs

          8  to be completed first.

          9                 So, to your point, councilman, yes,

         10  there is a margin of error but we have a great

         11  degree of confidence that we'll see the first spaces

         12  open this summer, based on the timetable that I laid

         13  out.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 Council Member McMahon.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you,

         18  Mr. Chairman.

         19                 It's a great segway into the vision

         20  that exists in this document, this kind of secret

         21  document.

         22                 MS. LANNON:  It was not intended to

         23  be secret.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But again,

         25  the issue Ms. Lannon you understand that when it
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          2  comes in succession to these other failures, we are

          3  very, very suspicious of promises now because we

          4  received similar promises ten years ago about the

          5  vision that would be here.

          6                 This report was done without

          7  consulting the elected officials.  This report was

          8  done without consulting the Ferry Riders Committee.

          9  Without consulting people, and now I know that there

         10  was  --  in the report it says that a survey was

         11  done, but we have some folks here that are going to

         12  testify who are ardent ferry riders, they actually

         13  take the ferry when they don't have to just to go

         14  back and forth because they like it so much, and the

         15  question they have I'm sure, who was surveyed and

         16  how was it conducted because I don't know anyone who

         17  was surveyed, and we've asked around, and we've

         18  asked the Ferry Riders Committee if they were

         19  surveyed.  There's a group of folks on the boats

         20  from 7:30 until 9, and 8 until 6:30, and so they all

         21  talk to each other, and they've got their  --  you

         22  go on the ferry, you've got the A click over here,

         23  and the B click over there, nobody knows anything

         24  about this survey.

         25                 So, there's a vision now that's in
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          2  this document but how did this vision come into

          3  being?  And is it, given that scenario, is it a

          4  valid vision, given the fact that it doesn't have

          5  any, sort of, grassroots formation?

          6                 MS. LANNON:  I will start by

          7  conceding that that was, and again predating my

          8  involvement, but I will concede that I believe

          9  that's an oversight to have not involved those

         10  groups that you referenced in the formation of this

         11  report.

         12                 The survey methodology is provided,

         13  there were a number of riders at different times

         14  that were surveyed, whether there was a weekend

         15  survey, there was a morning survey, there was a mid-

         16  day survey, there was a afternoon survey, and a

         17  great number of people were surveyed.

         18                 That being said, I think, not to be

         19  sort of off the cuff, but it's sort of a no- brainer

         20  in some ways what people want at the ferry

         21  terminals.  I think that people want a place to get

         22  coffee in the morning.  They want a newspaper.  They

         23  want some services like dry cleaning, or they

         24  definitely want post offices.  They want a decent

         25  news stand.  They want a place, maybe, where they
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          2  can pick up a gift or a book, or something like a

          3  last minute type of purchase like that.  They want a

          4  bar, you know if they're coming home in the evening,

          5  they may want to stop with friends and have a drink.

          6    And they want decent food, and they want options

          7  for food.  They don't just want the same old stuff,

          8  you know, they would like a place where maybe they

          9  could go and sit down, and have a decent sit- down

         10  meal.

         11                 I think certainly, we're very excited

         12  on the St. George side with that one restaurant

         13  space that, as you say, sort of overlooks the

         14  harbor, and you have the ballfield right there, and

         15  I think there's a fantastic opportunity there to

         16  have a real sit- down restaurant.

         17                 So, we do survey's and we do plan,

         18  but I think common sense plays a role here that I

         19  think we understand, and we have heard enough over

         20  the years what people want.  I think the vision is

         21  based on that kind of thinking.

         22                 I would also just like to say that

         23  EDC is very excited to be involved in this project.

         24  The major investment in the terminal itself, the

         25  investment in the ball field at St. George, and the
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          2  esplanade that connects them.  We have always viewed

          3  this as a great economic development opportunity to

          4  tap, not just for Staten Islanders, but as you say,

          5  it's a Citywide vision to really tap into the number

          6  of tourists that are riding this boat, and to get

          7  people off of the boats.

          8                 So, I mean, we see this beyond the

          9  things that I mentioned that the commuters want as

         10  an opportunity to really tap into those tourist

         11  dollars that, quite frankly as you say, the second

         12  most visited tourist destination in the City, after

         13  the Empire State Building, is the Staten Island

         14  Ferry.  So, we see a tremendous opportunity here.

         15  We think that we have assembled a team with the

         16  passion and the vision that you mentioned to really

         17  push this forward, quite frankly.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Let me just

         19  step back from the vision for a moment, we'll come

         20  back to that.  I do want to go over some of the past

         21  things a little bit, and then move forward to the

         22  vision.

         23                 The Ferry Terminal Management Group,

         24  what was the cost of buying out the lease from them?

         25    How much did the City have to spend to get them
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          2  out?

          3                 MS. LANNON:  I don't believe  --  I

          4  believe because it was only a partial surrender, I

          5  don't believe that there was a pay out, that they

          6  were allowed to maintain the spaces that they have

          7  now.  There are options that if we wanted to buy

          8  back those spaces that they actually have, that

          9  there would be a buy out provision if we wanted to

         10   --  is that clear?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  No, say that

         12  one more time.

         13                 MS. LANNON:  We did not have to pay

         14  FTMG to take --  let me start from the beginning.

         15  They have some, as I had mentioned, some spaces

         16  leased up right now, and then they have a number of

         17  spaces, for example, the Nathan's space that are

         18  unleased.

         19                 So, what was executed with DOT was a

         20  partial surrender of their lease.  So they can hang

         21  onto those spaces that they have, and they will be a

         22  sub- tenant to EDC for those spaces that they

         23  currently have, but the other spaces they

         24  surrendered where there was no buy back payment.

         25  But if wanted to take back what they have now, then
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          2  we would have to pay.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  You said

          4  that the legal work was done.  We'd like to request

          5  copies of that legal work to see exactly what was

          6  done.

          7                 MS. LANNON:  Absolutely.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  And to see

          9  the different --  so if you could follow that up

         10  with Mr. Smyth and with the Committee.

         11                 So are you saying that Ferry Terminal

         12  Management Group got this lease from the City,

         13  didn't do a darn thing except open up a coffee shop

         14  on Staten Island and tie up all this property for

         15  years, yet they're allowed  --  and they have the

         16  space in Staten Island that they're going to keep

         17  that, and they have the right to this other space

         18  that they are now going to make money off of whoever

         19  fills that, up until now, empty space that Nathan's

         20  and so on and so forth?

         21                 MS. LANNON:  No, no, they will not--

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Because

         23  quite frankly, they should be paying us.

         24                 MS. LANNON:  No, no.  No comment.

         25  But they will not be receiving any revenue from the
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          2  unleased spaces.  We will be happy to share the

          3  restated and partial surrendered lease. That's a new

          4  document, we can share that with you.

          5                 So, the Nathan's spaces are no longer

          6  FTMG's. When we execute this new master lease

          7  between EDC and DOT, those spaces will be ours.

          8  Those spaces will be ours, and the revenue from them

          9  will be ours.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So the only

         11  space that they will keep is the coffee shop on

         12  Staten Island?

         13                 MS. LANNON:  Correct, and the spaces

         14  that they  -- on Ammbutchie's (phonetic) and the

         15  other spaces that they have on the Whitehall side.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But there's

         17  Ammbutchie's is open, the pretzel and the popcorn

         18  shop never opened, and there's a news stand.

         19                 MS. LANNON:  So, it's very little

         20  that they are left with, and that is all that they

         21  will be receiving ongoing revenue from.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But they pay

         23  you rent for that?

         24                 MS. LANNON:  They pay DOT rent for

         25  that now, when EDC becomes the new master tenant,
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          2  they will pay us rent for that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay, so

          4  we'd like to see all those documents if we can.

          5                 MS. LANNON:  Absolutely.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Again the

          7  cost, I really kind of focus this on the notion of

          8  the loss of service and convenience to commuters and

          9  visitors, but have you ever looked at what the loss

         10  revenue was for the City for all this time, for all

         11  these years that these stores are empty?

         12                 Is there any way to estimate what the

         13  lost revenue was?

         14                 MS. LANNON:  We could estimate that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Do you have

         16  any idea as you sit here now?

         17                 MS. LANNON:  I would say probably

         18  over  -- between $700,000 and $800,000 a year,

         19  roughly.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Has been

         21  lost in direct payment to the City?

         22                 MS. LANNON:  Based on, I would refer

         23  you to the report that we did because we estimate

         24  what the total revenue will be, and based on if it

         25  were fully leased up and operating, and based on
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          2  what DOT is receiving now from FTMG, the difference

          3  is probably about $700,000 a year.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  And that's

          5  in direct payment, but then there's the ancillary in

          6  the sales tax, and

          7  the trickle down.

          8                 MS. LANNON:  Right, and the things

          9  that are hard to quantify, like you just want a

         10  bagel in the morning.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Right, but

         12  just in terms of dollars, it's those direct

         13  payments, but then it's also the trickle down

         14  numbers of all the other numbers that are generated.

         15                 What was the cost to do this study?

         16                 MS. LANNON:  I believe  --  I don't

         17  have that number.  I believe it was approximately

         18  $75,000 I want to say.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Mr.

         20  Chairman, you want this back?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes, what happens

         22  to the tenants who took possession under the FTMG if

         23  DOT and EDC rents to tenants at a lower price per

         24  square feet?

         25                 MS. LANNON:  A lower price?

                                                            39

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes.

          3                 MS. LANNON:  As you will see in the

          4  restated lease which we will share with you, those

          5  tenants have the right to stay on in the spaces that

          6  they have.  We are not kicking them out, and they

          7  will pay the rents that they negotiated with FTMG,

          8  and FTMG in turn pays their stated amount to DOT.

          9                 They will not be impacted by the new

         10  rents that we will be seeking to charge to the other

         11  tenants.

         12                 So basically, the restated lease

         13  protects the tenants that are there now.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  What if the rents

         15  are lower when you give them a lease, you rent out?

         16                 MS. LANNON:  Again, if the spaces

         17  that are unleased right now rent at a lower rate

         18  than what the people who are there are paying now,

         19  they're unrelated.  We will not be lowering the

         20  rents of the people, the current tenants, if that's

         21  clear.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Well, one of the

         23  things that just, in listening to my colleagues, and

         24  I must confess they have stimulated my interest in

         25  going to Staten Island and really taking a look at
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          2  it.  I make the commitment to do that.

          3                 MS. LANNON:  It's a beautiful

          4  terminal.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  And as a matter

          6  of fact, I'd go so far as to suggest that perhaps

          7  the next meeting that we have concerning this issue,

          8  will take place at Staten Island, and will take

          9  place somewhere at the ferry terminal.

         10                 MS. LANNON:  I welcome that

         11  opportunity, and hopefully the work will be

         12  starting.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.  Now you

         14  had mentioned something that predates you in terms

         15  of the original lease that was taken out and the job

         16  wasn't done, and I was listening to me colleagues,

         17  the job wasn't done for whatever the reasons, and I

         18  don't know how long and how many years, but it

         19  sounded like a long time and nothing was done.  Now

         20  we're talking about entering into a new lease

         21  agreement.  We're talking about space on one side of

         22  the river, and space on the other side of the river,

         23  and we're talking about going through the same

         24  process in terms of agreements.  But we do not have

         25  any firm commitment on who is going to occupy the
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          2  space.

          3                 MS. LANNON:  Correct, and we will be

          4  putting out a Request for Proposals next week, and

          5  basically going out to the industry to ask who's

          6  interested.

          7                 As I said, we're already had many

          8  expressions of interest from companies.  We're not

          9  worried that we're not going to get a great response

         10  to this RFP.

         11                 So, over the next couple of  --  they

         12  will have a certain amount of time to respond, and

         13  at that time, we will identify the tenants that best

         14  fit with this vision.

         15                 I would like to say to initiate some

         16  of those conversations that I think Council Member

         17  McMahon suggested to make sure that our vision, I

         18  mean, I think we've done a lot of due diligence.

         19  There are probably some further conversations to be

         20  had, such that when we receive those responses that

         21  we're picking the tenants that fit into a vision

         22  that is truly shared by all the interested

         23  stakeholders.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, but I think

         25  there was a gap there if I heard correctly from my
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          2  colleague, Council Member McMahon, and Council

          3  Member Oddo.  There seems to have been a lack of

          4  involvement of the part of interested parties who

          5  live on Staten Island, individuals who utilize the

          6  service, and elected officials.

          7                 So I would think that there should be

          8  some informal kind of meeting, and I would ask

          9  whether or not Council Member McMahon and the

         10  Minority Leader would meet with you and they, since

         11  they live there, can identify and help expedite

         12  insight into involvement in this process?

         13                 MS. LANNON:  We would welcome that

         14  opportunity to sit down with a group of people and

         15  stakeholders that are, you know, that are identified

         16  either by Councilman McMahon, or how ever you choose

         17  to bring those people together.  I think that that's

         18  a great idea for a next step in terms of reviewing

         19  this document that's been put together, and to make

         20  sure that it incorporates everyone's viewpoint

         21  before we start actually identifying tenants.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  I don't want to

         23  speak for them, and I don't want to leave this

         24  meeting without it being somewhat of an invitation

         25  sort of thing, but I would ask my colleagues, would
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          2  that be the kind of involvement that you would want

          3  to have?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Yes, thank

          5  you for that, Mr. Chairman, it is.  My only concern

          6  is, has the train left the station, or should I say

          7  the ferry boat pulled out of the terminal, before we

          8  have this input?

          9                 I would certainly like to see the

         10  draft RFPs before they go out, and I'd like to see

         11  them, number one.  I'd like to have the group, the

         12  sort of working group, at least have a week's time

         13  to sit down and talk with the EDC and say, look

         14  we've looked at these RFPs, we think this is good,

         15  this is good, and this is bad, and this is bad, and

         16  this is bad.  And I don't know, because if the RFPs

         17  go out, and they're responded to at that point, the

         18  deal is virtually closed, except for some minor

         19  changes.

         20                 MS. LANNON:  No, the boat has not

         21  pulled out of the terminal.  I think that if  --  I

         22  would welcome this opportunity.  I think we all

         23  would want to do it quickly.  We're ready to go but

         24  let's get together and make sure that it makes sense

         25  before we move on.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So just to

          3  sum up, so we have a commitment that we will sit

          4  down with some of the interested Staten Islanders

          5  for sure, maybe a representative of the New York

          6  City and Company, someone to represent the tourists

          7  to sit down at a table, review the RFP, go over

          8  some, perhaps some changes that could be made before

          9  they could go out?

         10                 MS. LANNON:  Absolutely.  As long as

         11  we can do that quickly.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  We can do

         13  that quickly.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Well, I want to

         15  identify "quickly," because quickly to some people

         16  is slow to others.  So, you were going to send the

         17  proposals out next week?

         18                 MS. LANNON:  We were planning to.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay.

         20                 MS. LANNON:  But if we could meet,

         21  well, what is next week?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Next week is

         23  Thanksgiving week. The week after.

         24                 MS. LANNON:  Yes, okay, right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  The week
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          2  after.

          3                 MS. LANNON:  So if we could meet the

          4  week after Thanksgiving, and then we would obviously

          5  be in a position to send them out the door, you

          6  know, incorporating at its  --  yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  That's a

          8  deal.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, so I'm

         10  going to ask my colleague as a member of this

         11  Committee, would you take the responsibility of

         12  having a meeting?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Okay, and we'll

         15  go with --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  And we'll

         17  keep you advised, Mr. Chairman, perhaps Mr. Smyth

         18  will come as a representative.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Good.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes, and we will

         22  follow-up with a subsequent meeting to go over what

         23  the desires of those people are, the best interest

         24  of the business.  It's not going to be a one-way

         25  street.  I want to see that the people move along
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          2  progressively with the good things that are

          3  happening in the City of New York and not be left

          4  out.

          5                 MS. LANNON:  Excellent.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay, thank

          7  you, Mr. Chairman.

          8                 I'm going to turn it over in a second

          9  to my colleague, but I do have to express that I

         10  feel like Ferry Terminal Management Group got some

         11  kind of sweetheart deal here, and that they had

         12  control of this whole facility, that they didn't

         13  perform, they didn't do any of the, as far as I

         14  heard, any of the physical work or the

         15  infrastructure work that they were supposed to do.

         16                 So maybe you can tell me, were they

         17  fined, were they penalized, or are they just sort of

         18  going on their merry way now with what they have and

         19  the City has lost $700,000 or $800,000 a year?

         20  People have been inconvenienced.  I mean, it seems

         21  to me that there should be penalties against them

         22  for not living up to their obligations.

         23                 MS. LANNON:  I am not in a position

         24  to really speak to that as the re-stated lease

         25  between DOT and FTMG has already been executed.
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          2                 All I can say is that I think that it

          3  will be FTMG's loss that they were not able to bring

          4  this opportunity to fruition.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But were

          6  they paying rent on all the space that they had

          7  control over, or were they paying rent only on the

          8  space that they had occupied?

          9                 MS. LANNON:  They're paying rent only

         10  on the spaces that they occupied.

         11                 So the inventive was for them to  --

         12  it was structured such the incentive for them was to

         13  get the spaces up and running because then they get

         14  the rent.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But at the

         16  same time, they had no incentive to do it because

         17  they could just fill whatever they had, and operate

         18  it, and they didn't loose anything either.  I mean,

         19  that's a bad deal, right?  If you're giving me

         20  control of space but I only have to pay on what I'm

         21  occupying, so all that space has and will continue

         22  to lay dormant in your best case scenario for

         23  another ten months, at best, or nine months, if not,

         24  a year-and-a-half or two years.

         25                 So, they've done quite a disservice
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          2  to the City and to the people who use that ferry.  I

          3  just don't understand how a deal can be structured

          4  like that without any penal  --  I mean, I don't

          5  understand how they are allowed to stay there, quite

          6  frankly. Me, I would say, get them the heck out of

          7  there. That's my feeling on it, so I don't know how

          8  that is.

          9                 MR. DESIMONE:  I think the best thing

         10  is for us to provide you with all the information

         11  relating to how the lease was reconciled, and you

         12  being a lawyer, I'm sure you can understand all the

         13  details and whatever else was involved in it, but

         14  we'll get you that information.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I am a

         16  lawyer, but at the same time, I'm just a plain

         17  councilman from Staten Island who looks at things

         18  very simply, simplistically I guess you would say.

         19  I don't want to say I'm a simpleton, but I look at

         20  things simply.

         21                 MS. DESIMONE:  That we know.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Because I

         23  know what Jimmy's thinking, but does that make sense

         24  to you that someone would have a lease for 26,500

         25  square feet of space and not have to perform in any
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          2  way?  I mean, there's was no incentive for them to

          3  perform, to fill the space.

          4                 MS. DESIMONE:  Well, there was

          5  incentive to the extent that their business plan was

          6  based, predicated, on the revenues they anticipated.

          7

          8                 Now as I say, I don't know all the

          9  details of their financial's, but we certainly can

         10  provide you the complete settlement, recasting of

         11  the lease, et cetera.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Well let me

         13  express to you the feeling of everybody who takes

         14  the ferry every day, and looks at them, and looks at

         15  the store they run, and they should be thrown out of

         16  there because they didn't perform, they don't run a

         17  good operation, and that, I'll probably get sued for

         18  libel.

         19                 What type of companies have expressed

         20  interest to you to rent space?

         21                 MS. LANNON:  I'm not saying this to

         22  be obstructionist.  I have been advised that we are

         23  about to enter an act of procurement, and it would

         24  be better off not to mention specific companies by

         25  name.  Generally speaking, food service businesses.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But you're

          3  not entering into procurement until the RFP is

          4  issued to, responded to, and finalized, is that

          5  correct?

          6                 MS. LANNON:  That is correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So you're

          8  far away from that point.

          9                 MS. LANNON:  Coming into this

         10  testimony, we didn't think we were far away.

         11  Hopefully we're still not far away.  We also are

         12  speaking --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  The

         14  companies that you've spoken of, are they listed in

         15  here?

         16                 MS. LANNON:  There are some of them

         17  listed in there.  I would refer you to that report.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So it's

         19  these or like companies?

         20                 MS. LANNON:  Or like companies,

         21  absolutely.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay.  I got

         23  just two or three quick ones.

         24                 There has been talk previously about

         25  connecting Whitehall to the Battery Marine Building,
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          2  if you could you tell us what the future of that

          3  building is, and what the plan is for connecting

          4  those two so that commuters and tourists would have

          5  direct access between the two buildings?

          6                 MR. DESIMONE:  That is something

          7  that's been discussed, and as far as DOT is

          8  concerned, we will certainly accommodate anyone.

          9                 I understand that EDC should be

         10  either already awarded the contract, or is nearing

         11  the award of a contract on the BMB, and as I said,

         12  we have tangentially discussed it with EDC as far as

         13  building a bridge across, and connecting the two

         14  terminals and that's definitely something that we--

         15                 MS. LANNON:  We, EDC, is developing

         16  the Battery Maritime Building.  We have

         17  conditionally designated Dermott (phonetic), they

         18  have plans to develop a hotel there.

         19                 It is also going to be  --  it is the

         20  gateway for the Governors' Island Ferry.  On the

         21  ground level there has been continued interest about

         22  developing a pedestrian bridge between the two

         23  facilities, that is still on the table.  It is

         24  something that is being discussed by the DOT

         25  Commissioner, as well as the Commissioner of City
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          2  Planning.  I know one thing that would need to be

          3  reconciled was security concerns, and concerns that

          4  the Coast Guard, I believe, had about the pedestrian

          5  bridge.  But it's still very much on the table.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I mean, by

          7  the end of this year they'll both be under the

          8  control of EDC, won't they?

          9                 MS. LANNON:  EDC is this sort of

         10  master landlord of the BMB, but they would be under

         11  control of the private developer.  But yes, to

         12  answer your question, yes they would be.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So, it's

         14  really the decision and, Venetia, you're the project

         15  manager of the BMB I take it?  Your division?

         16                 MS. LANNON:  Yes, our division as

         17  well as the real estate division at EDC.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So can we

         19  get more than it being under consideration?  Can we

         20  get more specific about it?

         21                 MS. LANNON:  We can.  Also, I just

         22  want to clarify that the terminals themselves will

         23  remain DOT terminals.

         24                 So, ultimately DOT is the decision-

         25  maker at the Staten Island Ferry.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Right.

          3                 MS. LANNON:  But we would be happy to

          4  come back to you with more information about the

          5  pedestrian bridge, and where it stands in terms of

          6  planning.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Because that

          8  seems to me an incredible opportunity to connect for

          9  visitors and tourists and commuters to have that

         10  flow between the two buildings, and then you'd be

         11  talking about a real Grand Central- type of facility

         12  for the daily commuters, and the visitors as well.

         13                 MR. DESIMONE:  We have Commissioner

         14  Sutterlin and several others, we have a tour on the

         15  calendar for the BMB, and when I say it's under

         16  consideration, I could say today that if the

         17  proposal was put forth, it would be welcomed by DOT.

         18    We will actively cooperate.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay, feel

         20  free to invite us on those tours, Captain.  We would

         21  love to come along.

         22                 Can you tell me while I have you

         23  here, Captain, can you tell me when the top level of

         24  the St. George Ferry Terminal will be finished?

         25                 MR. DESIMONE:  The top level?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  The

          3  construction.

          4                 MR. DESIMONE:  I'm just waiting on

          5  the fences actually.  It should be open  --  you're

          6  talking about the pedestrian walkway on the top over

          7  there?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  The upper

          9  deck.

         10                 MR. DESIMONE:  Basically--

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Is that

         12  metal sheeting in place?  We were waiting for the

         13  metal sheeting out there?

         14                 MR. DESIMONE:  The fencing, yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  That's all

         16  in place?

         17                 MR. DESIMONE:  It should be.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So when will

         19  that be open for people to use?

         20                 MR. DESIMONE:  I'm hoping.  Well

         21  let's put it this way, the project is supposed to be

         22  completed within the next month.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay.

         24                 MR. DESIMONE:  That project is

         25  actually moving on schedule, and it's moving along
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          2  nicely.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  For the

          4  upstairs?

          5                 MR. DESIMONE:  For the whole security

          6  package at St. George, which includes the fencing,

          7  which will allow opening up that pedestrian  --

          8  you're talking about the living roof, up in that

          9  area?  Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay, so

         11  maybe we'll come for a tour of that as well.

         12                 MR. DESIMONE:  Oh yes, absolutely.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay, and

         14  then just, Ms. Lannon, who is in charge of the

         15  restaurant space at the Staten Island Ball Park, at

         16  the Richmond County Ball Park?

         17                 MS. LANNON:  That is, I believe, that

         18  is also EDC.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But is that

         20  you?

         21                 MS. LANNON:  Not my group, no.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  We'll follow

         23  up on that.

         24                 MS. LANNON:  But we are very

         25  interested in pursuing this development in close
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          2  coordination with that group.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But you

          4  understand that that's  --  the restaurant space

          5  that I'm talking about was two. One is the Staten

          6  Island Terminal, in the terminal, and one in the

          7  ball park.

          8                 MS. LANNON:  That's one thing that we

          9  are considering, is maybe enlarging this procurement

         10  to also include that restaurant space at the ball

         11  park.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So you could

         13  put that into this RFP at this point to try to

         14  revitalize that?

         15                 MS. LANNON:  That is under

         16  consideration.  That's a possibility.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  In this

         18  whole vision and plan, in your mind, how will you

         19  attract businesses into the terminals?  What are you

         20  putting in there that will make it attractive.  By

         21  that I mean, low rent incentives, build out

         22  incentives?  What are you doing to make this

         23  commercially viable? Because the ball park

         24  restaurant space was never pursued by anyone because

         25  it was always so financially impossible to do
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          2  anything there the way it was structured.

          3                 What are we doing different here?

          4                 MS. LANNON:  That's what we've

          5  recognized with both of these terminals, is that the

          6  City has to make an investment and this is typical

          7  in retail development.

          8                 If you had retail in a ground space

          9  of commercial building, say on Staten Island, you

         10  can't just have a raw space and turn that over to a

         11  retail developer.  You have to bring it up to what's

         12  called, this is a term I just learned, it's

         13  called`vanilla box.'  That basically is the

         14  utilities and the sort of stubbed- out in the space,

         15  and dry wall, just sort of the basic interior shell

         16  of the space.  Then that is when it becomes

         17  attractive to retail developers to move in, and then

         18  they still have to do utility work to run the

         19  utilities where they want them and put a stove here,

         20  or they do what they need to do.

         21                 So basically, we recognize that we

         22  need to bring the space up to a certain level, and

         23  that we need to make an investment in that

         24  infrastructure before it leasable.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  But you can
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          2  understand my frustration and the frustration of all

          3  Staten Islanders, and again, as I said in the

          4  beginning, I have the highest respect and regard for

          5  the both of you, but to hear you say now that we now

          6  realize is this is what we have to do there.  I

          7  mean, that space has been empty for years, the ferry

          8  terminal situation for a couple of years, the ball

          9  park for five or six years.

         10                 MS. LANNON:  I understand your

         11  frustration.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I mean, what

         13  do we do if you leave?  Then what happens?

         14                 MS. LANNON:  My colleague, Dansa

         15  (phonetic) really is sitting behind me, you'll be in

         16  able hands.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  I hope he's

         18  taking notes. I mean my point is, how can the

         19  Economic Development Corporation of New York City

         20  not have known this sooner?

         21                 MS. LANNON:  Again, I don't want to

         22  blame sister agencies.  I don't want to blame DOT.

         23  The way that the original lease was structured was

         24  that the obligation to do that utility work was

         25  FTMG's, they signed on and said, "We can do that."
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          2  They said, "We can do that utility work, and we can

          3  lease up these spaces."  They could not do that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Mr. Chairman,

          5  thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  I just want to

          8  thank you for dedicating the time of the Committee

          9  on this issue.

         10                 I want to thank my colleague, Council

         11  Member McMahon, who obviously continues to be the

         12  strongest proponent for the Staten Island Ferry.

         13                 Ms. Lannon, I'm not familiar with

         14  you.  I don't do the garbage thing as often as

         15  Michael does but I have to say that I feel a higher

         16  degree of confidence that you are here, and that you

         17  are working on this issue because Council Member

         18  McMahon started out the questioning, and you were

         19  very diplomatic in not dumping on a sister agency;

         20   "Was this mishandled?"   The answer is very clear,

         21  it's very evident.  This was mishandled terribly,

         22  and the frustration you heard from Council Member

         23  McMahon is a familiar lament from Staten Islanders

         24  in that, if this infrastructure, if this site were

         25  located in any of the other four boroughs, this
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          2  would never happen.

          3                 We often say it, we've said until

          4  recently, Council Member McMahon, Council Member

          5  Ignizio, even then Council Member Lanza, in that if

          6  the NASCAR site were located in any of the four

          7  boroughs, the City, whether it's EDC or the other

          8  parts of the City Administration, or even the State

          9  for that matter, would have much more interest.

         10                 There's no way if the Staten Island

         11  Ferry were called the Bronx Ferry, or the Brooklyn

         12  Ferry, or the Upper East Side Ferry, that it would

         13  have been barren for two years.

         14                 In the 1980's, I interned on the

         15  floor of the stock exchange for five summers, and if

         16  I had a good week, I would allow myself the

         17  wonderful privilege of going to Pete Smith's on the

         18  Whitehall side and having a cold one, and these

         19  terminals have been so barren for so long, that in

         20  my mental rear view mirror, Pete Smith's is like Le

         21  Cirque.  That's how barren these places have been,

         22  and the frustration you heard and the level of

         23  expertise that you heard, I think, from Council

         24  Member McMahon reflects the fact that he believes in

         25  his heart, as do I, that this would never have been
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          2  allowed in any other borough.

          3                 The answer to his question very

          4  clearly is that other people really messed this up,

          5  and it's interesting to me, and I'll end with kind

          6  of looking backwards with this, it's curious to me

          7  that an Administration where there's a deputy mayor

          8  who I think is probably the most powerful deputy

          9  mayor since Moses was in office, who's has a

         10  wonderful portfolio, EDC's been very active, they're

         11  revitalizing this whole City, it's amazing that this

         12  nugget, this jewel, was allowed to slip out of that

         13  portfolio and other people handled it, and the

         14  people who handled it previously mishandled it.

         15                 So, that's clear, and from that I'm

         16  hopeful from hearing from you, and hearing your

         17  testimony that the worst is behind us.

         18                 You have to  --  in one of Council

         19  Member McMahon's last questions you kind of touched

         20  on it, but explain to me exactly now, when you

         21  transfer the management  --  when you have this

         22  lease agreement between you and DOT, what exactly is

         23  the relationship?  What is the relationship between

         24  your agencies when it comes to this?

         25                 MS. LANNON:  Right, yes, I think I
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          2  understand the question.

          3                 The relationship will be that the

          4  retail space will be carved out of the DOT terminal.

          5    So DOT will still be responsible obviously for the

          6  terminal, for security, for everything that they do

          7  for running the ferries.  But there will be a new

          8  master lease for the retail space only that will be

          9  EDC's.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Okay.

         11                 MS. LANNON:  So DOT is the ultimate

         12  landlord, we are the master lessee, then we will in

         13  turn, turn around and sub lease all the spaces.

         14                 MR. DESIMONE:  EDC becomes FTMG, all

         15  right?  They literally become the new master tenant.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Council Member

         17  Vann just whispered in my ear, what's the timing?

         18  When exactly did that relationship get cemented?  Or

         19  that decision, when was it made?

         20                 MR. DESIMONE:  I would say it has

         21  been  --  a decision was made during the term of the

         22  last Commissioner.  We got into discussions with

         23  EDC.  There's been some changes at EDC that certain

         24  individuals who were initially involved left.  We

         25  had a new Commissioner come in, and shortly after
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          2  her coming in a firm decision was made, and agreed

          3  to by both sides because initially EDC wasn't sure

          4  they wanted to walk down the isle with us, and vice

          5  versa.

          6                 So once the new commissioner was on

          7  board, and actually EDC has a new president, they

          8  both agreed that this is the way we should go.

          9                 So really I would say it's within the

         10  last 60 days where firm a agreement was made, "Okay,

         11  let's  move ahead with this."

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  I got an email

         13  from a constituent back in June of 2006, he was

         14  writing to me on behalf of his son.  His son had

         15  planned on renting a store at the ferry terminal.  I

         16  think he had a cellular phone store, and from June

         17  of`06 until, I'm sorry, October 11th of this year,

         18  my office kind of gave him the information as we got

         19  it from DOT about the whole thing going on, and he

         20  then eventually, on the 11th, he sends me an email

         21  basically saying his stepson got his deposit back,

         22  and it's been taking too long to consummate the

         23  deal, and he basically got his money back and left.

         24                 Is there a universe of stores or

         25  entities that expressed interest that had been
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          2  negotiating that are in this limbo stage right now,

          3  or people who were talking to the old group who were

          4  disillusioned but might be interested in coming

          5  back?

          6                 I mean, is there a universe of people

          7  that you can contact and let them know that this RFP

          8  is coming out, or?

          9                 MS. LANNON:  Yes, those people were

         10  speaking to FTMG when it was clear that FTMG was not

         11  going to be moving forward.  Those people have been

         12  contacting DOT, DOT has been passing those people on

         13  to us.

         14                 So we have a number of people that we

         15  know already we're going to send the RFP out to, but

         16  again, that's the last of our concerns.  We know

         17  that this is going to be a very popular RFP.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  I have not in

         19  the course of this two years, and I don't if Council

         20  Member McMahon has had anybody come up to him and

         21  say, "I've been negotiating, or I've heard from DOT,

         22  or anyone, or I've talked to anyone."

         23                 So I'm not sure who you've already

         24  communicated with.  I guess my request would be, and

         25  obviously we have the local newspaper here, and
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          2  there's going to be a story about this hearing

          3  tomorrow, but I would suggest that you use the

          4  Staten Island Advance or Time Warner, to let folks

          5  know after we have the McMahon meeting, let folks

          6  know about the RFP because Staten Island is 500,000

          7  strong but it's also, at times, a very small town.

          8                 I think, although I agree with you,

          9  there's going to be lots of interest, I really would

         10  hate to be told one day when I'm making my rounds

         11  and Michael's making his rounds, "We didn't know it

         12  was coming down the pike."

         13                 So I would suggest that you take

         14  advantage of the fact that there's sort of a captive

         15  audience on Staten Island--

         16                 MS. LANNON:  I think that's a great

         17  suggestion, and we will be working with a number of

         18  venues to promote the RFP on Staten Island.  I think

         19  that's particularly important because our real focus

         20  on the Staten Island side, as I said, is to get

         21  local businesses in there.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  The last thing,

         23  I know it has kind of received some laughs and some

         24   --  it was mocked somewhat the last couple of

         25  weeks, it's probably an inordinate amount of

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  attention to pigeons, I'm not obsessed with pigeons

          3  but it really is disheartening as we're talking

          4  about bringing beautiful new entities to this

          5  beautiful new facility, $130 million into it, that

          6  we still have this problem.  I know we've

          7  communicated but we really need to clean that

          8  problem up as we're ushering in new tenants with

          9  new, particularly new food tenants. Less pigeons,

         10  more stores.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  We

         12  definitely need to something about the water

         13  fountain, which has become the pigeon bath.

         14                 I just have one more  --  the post

         15  office, when will the post office be open?

         16                 MS. LANNON:  Spring.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Where will

         18  it be located?

         19                 MR. DESIMONE:  It's somewhere along

         20  the main concourse there.  There's a meeting next

         21  Wednesday with our staff and what not, with the post

         22  office.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  So the site

         24  for the post office hasn't been determined yet?

         25                 MR. DESIMONE:  Yes, it's been
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          2  determined.  It's somewhere, I believe, right in the

          3  vicinity of the Water Edge Cafe at this point.

          4  Somewhere in the middle in there.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Because what

          6  I saw in here, I didn't like.  It was off up one of

          7  the ramps, so everyone coming into the terminal

          8  would have to go back up the ramp.

          9                 MR. DESIMONE:  I will check on that

         10  and get back to you.  Unless you know specifically?

         11                 MS. LANNON:  No.

         12                 MR. DESIMONE:  I will get back to you

         13  on Monday.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Okay, so

         15  we'll follow up on the location of the post office.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 MR. DESIMONE:  Okay, but there is a

         18  meeting next week, and that should be moving ahead.

         19  We're just waiting on the postal service to conclude

         20  their agreement with the outfit that's going to

         21  build it out.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Who was

         23  their landlord?

         24                 MR. DESIMONE:  Well, they have been

         25  working with us, and eventually--
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          2                 MS. LANNON:  We will ultimately be

          3  their land lord.

          4                 MR. DESIMONE:  We will be their's,

          5  right?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON:  Thank you.

          7                 MS. LANNON:  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WHITE:  Thank you, Ms.

          9  Lannon, and thank you, Captain DeSimone.

         10                 I'm going to ask the following people

         11  to come up to testify; Patrick Hyland, Vinnie

         12  Montalbano, and Henry Kennedy, and to testify in

         13  that order.  Please identify yourself.

         14                 MR. KENNEDY:  Thank you very much.

         15                 My name is Henry Kennedy.

         16                 Chairman White, Mr. McMahon and Mr.

         17  Oddo, thank you very much for having this hearing.

         18                 This is the first time that I am

         19  aware of that there has been a public forum to

         20  discuss the ferry terminals, both from their design

         21  going back years, to today when we are faced with

         22  two ferry terminals that, for other than getting on

         23  a ferry boat, are dysfunctional.

         24                 Before I start with my formal

         25  testimony, I would like to mention two ideas.  The
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          2  last time a person could buy a slice of pizza at the

          3  Whitehall Ferry Terminal, David Dinkins was our

          4  mayor.

          5                 The second point, New York City and

          6  New York City's projects are about essentially two

          7  things; priority and where there's a will, there's a

          8  way.

          9                 I draw the Chair's attention to the

         10  Staten Island Baseball stadium.  Guy Molinari and

         11  Rudy Giuliani wanted to build a stadium in St.

         12  George.  Within a matter of a year, or a little bit

         13  over that, they were able to secure property, secure

         14  $79 million for its funding, and have the thing

         15  built with the first ball thrown out.

         16                 I say both of those things in the

         17  context of what we're talking about today.  This

         18  really is about priority, it's about where there's a

         19  will, there's a way.

         20                 The good vice president of the

         21  Economic Development Corporation, I don't know

         22  whether she's here or not, I certainly believe

         23  everything she said.

         24                 However, I would like to comment that

         25  her statement and also what's in this report, which
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          2  I have not seen yet about doing surveys, she could

          3  very well, and hope that she did and there's no

          4  reason to believe that they didn't do those surveys,

          5  except for, I ride the ferry boat all the time and I

          6  was never approached for the survey.  Yesterday I

          7  canvassed 12 people randomly on the ferry boat to

          8  ask them were there any surveys. They never heard of

          9  anything.  Never heard of surveys, never heard of

         10  polls.

         11                 So I question what kind of survey was

         12  done, when it was done, and what exactly was in that

         13  survey.  So with those ideas in mind, let me just

         14  give you my formal testimony.

         15                 As I said, I'm Henry Kennedy.  I have

         16  been riding the ferry boat for 40 years.  I'm here

         17  today with my colleague and friend, Vincent

         18  Montalbano.  Mr. Montalbano and myself are often

         19  riders together on the ferry boat, and we talk about

         20  a lot of different things.  Mr. Montalbano is also

         21  very involved with the City of New York.  I myself

         22  am an attorney in private practice.

         23                 We have attached for your review a

         24  little brief summation that we put together.  This

         25  has a collection of the Staten Island Advance
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          2  articles, which we think fairly depicts what's going

          3  on at the Staten Island Ferry Terminal, or better

          4  yet, what is not going on at the Staten Island Ferry

          5  Terminal.

          6                 As these articles make clear, and as

          7  we personally know, ferry riders, tourists, and

          8  members of our community at large are frustrated by

          9  the lack of stores, restaurants and public amenities

         10  at both the Manhattan and Staten Island Ferry

         11  Terminals.  The riders frustrations are compounded

         12  by New York City's repeated representation that such

         13  stores and services would be coming soon.

         14                 It appears today that we are no

         15  further along in planning for and attracting

         16  businesses to the terminals than we were when the

         17  terminals were first completed over three years ago.

         18    In a city that supports a new drugstore daily and

         19  a ubiquitous pizza parlor, it is inconceivable that

         20  such business enterprise couldn't find homes in our

         21  terminals.  The answer must be that the City is not

         22  interested enough in providing for the Staten Island

         23  Ferry rider.

         24                 As long time Staten Islanders, we

         25  share a collective concern for the day to day
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          2  consequences of that sentiment.  However by not

          3  appropriately using the ferry terminals, the City is

          4  squandering important public property, property that

          5  should be providing jobs, generating rent and tax

          6  income, and attracting tourism.  That should be a

          7  concern for all New Yorkers, and I think a very,

          8  very important concern.

          9                 Mr. Chairman, by their own admission,

         10  the Staten Island Ferry attracts about 19 million,

         11  that's 19 million passengers a year.  If you just

         12  think that if each one of those passenger, you

         13  attach the dollar onto each one of those passengers

         14  as some sort of tax, in some way, shape or form,

         15  either through income tax, either through rental

         16  income, that's $19 million that the City of New York

         17  has lost each year.  This has been going on for

         18  three or four years.  I believe that Councilman

         19  McMahon was making that argument.  This just isn't

         20  about Staten Island, I'd love to say that it's just

         21  about Staten Island because I agree with our council

         22  members that Staten Island generally gets the short

         23  end of the stick.  There's no doubt about that.

         24  Councilman McMahon brought up the notion of Grand

         25  Central and also Penn Station, you could also throw
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          2  the Port Authority in there.

          3                 God forbid if some guy going up to

          4  Chappaqua or Scarsdale wasn't able to have a drink,

          5  you'd hear holy hell down here.  Even those very

          6  commuters no longer pay a tax to New York. I happen

          7  to live in New York City, and I do pay that tax.

          8                 So, I think that there really is

          9  money here, and the City is squandering this money

         10  for reasons that I don't fully understand.

         11                 I again say that I appreciate very

         12  much this opportunity to be here today, and I'm now

         13  going to turn this over to my colleague, Mr.

         14  Montalbano.

         15                 MR. MONTALBANO:  Thank you Hal.

         16                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman as well.

         17                 My name is Vincent Montalbano, and I

         18  am regular, daily ferry commuter.

         19                 You know economic development is just

         20  one of many issues facing the operations of the

         21  Staten Island Ferry.  There are other issues as

         22  well, such as the cleanliness of the terminals and

         23  boats, boat schedules, allowing cars back on the

         24  boats, terminal pick up and drop off problems on

         25  Staten Island and accessibility for those who are
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          2  disabled, and for bicyclists.

          3                 For too long, ferry riders have not

          4  had a forum where these concerns are addressed, and

          5  we appreciate having had that forum today, and we'd

          6  like to make a couple of proposals, I think some of

          7  which may have been addressed in EDC's testimony.

          8                 First of all, EDC and DOT should form

          9  a permanent Staten Island Ferry Riders Advisory

         10  Committee, comprised of regular commuters, the

         11  Staten Island Council Delegation and others.  This

         12  Committee should meet quarterly, both to consider

         13  any service or operational plans of the City, and

         14  bring to the City's attention any issues that are

         15  noted by the regular commuting public.  We believe

         16  this entity would improve ferry operations, and

         17  serve to build better relationships between the

         18  riders and the City.

         19                 As far as the stores are concerned,

         20  we heard that an RFP is about to go out.  We will

         21  trust that that RFP is about to go out.  But, I'm

         22  not the only one sitting here who understands that

         23  RFP's generally take a lot longer than they plan to

         24  take, and frankly, an RFP is only one way that the

         25  City can get these bids.  I know they always say
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          2  that that's the only way, but if you look at the

          3  Charter, it's not the only way.  Why can't we go

          4  back to just the simple way of getting people there?

          5    Why don't we go to the commercial realtors in

          6  Staten Island, citywide, Lower Manhattan, or

          7  whatever, and ask them to do some solicitation for

          8  us?  If they can find people, those people that need

          9  to be vetted still should be vetted, but we need to

         10  get started, and we need to get started now.  We

         11  need to just get moving.

         12                      Finally, among the things that

         13  were not mentioned today, and I am getting on a

         14  little bit, so maybe I don't remember things as

         15  clearly as I should, but I'm pretty sure that when

         16  these terminals were touted, and then when they were

         17  built, we were told that there was going to be a

         18   "world- class restaurant" on each side.  I believe

         19  they was supposed to be in the upper parts of both

         20  terminals.  That was not mentioned today, and my

         21  assumption it was not mentioned is because it's not

         22  going to happen.  My understanding is that it's not

         23  going to happen or not being considered because of,

         24  and Ms. Lannon did use that word, security issues.

         25  This just has to stop.
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          2                 These two terminals have unparalleled

          3  views of the harbor.  We were told when they were

          4  being built that that was going to be exploited with

          5  a world- class restaurant.  Now it's not even

          6  mentioned.

          7                 So let's go  --  we have a problem

          8  with getting the regular services that we were

          9  talking about, the retail services, into the ferry

         10  terminal, but let's not leave that out as well.

         11  Those could make a lot of money, they can attract a

         12  lot of people and they would be a beautiful place to

         13  be.

         14                 Finally just two other points.  One

         15  again on the passenger service.  Like my colleague

         16  Hal, I was not surveyed. I'm not saying that they

         17  didn't do a survey, but part of what I do for a

         18  living over the years has been consulting on

         19  marketing in politics and stuff.  I know that there

         20  could be targeted surveys and there could be general

         21  surveys.  I'm assuming this was a targeted survey,

         22  and that many of us didn't get it, but what we don't

         23  understand is, why didn't they just stand there and

         24  hand out a survey to everybody?  Then most people

         25  would have gotten it and they would have gotten a
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          2  large enough opinion so that we would not have had a

          3  quote in the September 30th, 2007 Staten Island

          4  Advance at the end of the packet we gave you, where

          5  it says services like a dry cleaner were not likely

          6  to be used. Well, there was a dry cleaner on the

          7  Staten Island side for years.  That rack was

          8  constantly filled with garments.  That's totally

          9  bizarre.  That can't possibly be, so obviously

         10  whoever the survey targeted, it targeted the wrong

         11  people.  I think a more general survey might help

         12  out.

         13                 Thank you very much for your time.

         14                 MR. HYLAND:  Good afternoon, Mr.

         15  Chairman.  Thank you for scheduling this hearing on

         16  this important Staten Island issue, Council Members

         17  McMahon and Oddo, thank you for the opportunity.

         18                 Good afternoon, my name is Patrick

         19  Hyland, Vice President of the Staten Island Chamber

         20  of Commerce.  On behalf of the Staten Island Chamber

         21  of Commerce, and our 900 members, I would like to

         22  thank you for the opportunity to address the New

         23  York City, City Council Economic Development

         24  Committee regarding the status of the Staten Island

         25  Ferry Terminals.
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          2                 For the record, Mr. Chairman, I rode

          3  the 12 o'clock ferry in today with Councilman

          4  McMahon, and look forward to taking it back.

          5                 As we all know, the Staten Island

          6  ferry is often seen as an iconic symbol of Staten

          7  Island, and it should be. This 102-year-old service

          8  carries over 19 million passengers per year, an

          9  average of over 65,000 per day.

         10                 The ferry, the most reliable form of

         11  mass transit on Staten Island, especially these days

         12  with what's going on with the Verrazano Bridge, has

         13  seen gradual ridership growth over the past few

         14  years.  In the Chamber's opinion, this growth can be

         15  attributed to the reliability of the service, the

         16  recently renovated terminals, and the new Molinari

         17  Class ferries.  These three new ferries, along with

         18  the terminals, all arrived in`05 and have definitely

         19  made the hour plus commute for the Island resident a

         20  more enjoyable, or should I say, tolerable

         21  experience.

         22                 The Chamber would like to thank Mayor

         23  Bloomberg and the Council for their investment in

         24  these terminal improvements and the new boats.  They

         25  were much needed and the investment is much
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          2  appreciated.

          3                 We would also like to thank the Mayor

          4  for working with the City Councilman, especially

          5  Councilman McMahon, who sponsored the bill, and

          6  Councilman Oddo, who lobbied tirelessly with

          7  Councilman McMahon on this issue on increasing the

          8  amount of daily ferry trips to and from Staten

          9  Island.  The increasing ridership I mentioned

         10  earlier shows that these extra trips were certainly

         11  warranted.

         12                 The issue that brings us here today

         13  is the lack of any progress whatsoever regarding the

         14  retail space in the recently refurbished terminals,

         15  especially the St. George Terminal.  There is 20,000

         16  square feet available in the St. George Ferry

         17  Terminal, but yet there is only one tenant.

         18                 When we received word of this hearing

         19  last week, it spurred the Chamber to ask why once

         20  again.  We have spoken to prominent developers and

         21  business owners over the past few days, especially

         22  those in the St. George area and on the North Shore.

         23                 The first item that was unanimously

         24  brought up was the cost of the lease agreements that

         25  the City has been pursuing in the past, often north
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          2  of $40.00 per square foot.  Every person we spoke

          3  with felt that it was exorbitant for a new business,

          4  especially when factoring in build-out costs of the

          5  sites which developers felt could run anywhere from

          6  $50,000 to $100,000, depending on the square footage

          7  obtained.

          8                 Over the past few years, St. George

          9  has begun to see a Renaissance.  A mixture of public

         10  and private investment has started bringing more

         11  people to the area, and there is much more on the

         12  horizon.

         13                 The Stapleton Waterfront Development

         14  project and the Lighthouse Museum site are two

         15  projects currently being overseen by the New York

         16  City EDC that have changed people's outlook on the

         17  area, and in my opinion, these projects have

         18  triggered the private investment taking place in the

         19  surrounding areas. When these projects are

         20  completed, there will be over 1,000 new luxury

         21  condominiums within walking distance to this

         22  terminal.

         23                 In addition, plans for a new St.

         24  George Courthouse will bring additional business

         25  professionals and residents to the area on a daily
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          2  basis.

          3                 All of these projects sound great to

          4  the Chamber and other community and civic groups on

          5  the Island, but I find they are often viewed with

          6  skepticism by our member businesses and residents.

          7  They have read about these projects for years now,

          8  and yet the Homeport still stands, the Lighthouse

          9  Museum project inches along, and the residential

         10  complexes are not yet completed for varying reasons.

         11                 Any business owner I speak with feels

         12  that they would be taking a huge leap of faith going

         13  into the ferry on the assumption that the City is

         14  going to complete these projects in the time frames

         15  they have set forth.  You know what?  They are

         16  right.

         17                 The City should be willing to take a

         18  huge leap of faith with them, as well.  The lease

         19  agreements in the ferry should be structured so that

         20  they are business-owner friendly, especially in the

         21  beginning.  The term "breakpoint lease" with phased

         22  or tiered increases that reach "market rate" over a

         23  few years was brought up myself on more than one

         24  occasion.  This makes sense to us.  We are talking

         25  about store fronts that have sat vacant for almost
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          2  three years now.  Let's make it enticing for an

          3  owner of a dry cleaner, coffee shop, pizzeria,

          4  souvenir stand, drug store, restaurant, et cetera,

          5  to put up their flag in the St. George Ferry

          6  Terminal.  I would hope the goal would be for the

          7  business to thrive and become a fixture that Island

          8  residents and commuters could call their own, not to

          9  just charge exorbitant rents.

         10                 Another issue regarding the retail

         11  space in the ferry terminal is the current parking

         12  arrangements.  This is critical for what type of

         13  business the City would be attempting to recruit to

         14  these sites.  Presently, the most convenient lot in

         15  the terminal is a muni lot that charges $5.00 per

         16  day for commuters and it is used extensively.  The

         17  Chamber does not present a solution here today on

         18  where that parking could be provided given the

         19  current configuration of the terminal, but this

         20  issue was not sufficiently addressed when the

         21  terminal was refurbished and definitely needs to be

         22  re-visited.

         23                 Before I conclude, I would also like

         24  to address the failure to get passengers off of our

         25  boats to visit our local cultural institutions and
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          2  shops and restaurants.  This has been a problem for

          3  years now, and I am sad to say we have not

          4  capitalized on the new terminals when it comes to

          5  tourism. Hundreds of tourists ride the Staten Island

          6  ferry every day only to get off and immediately

          7  re-boarded back to Manhattan bringing their dollars

          8  and their Euros with them, and we know how anxious

          9  people are to spend Euros these days in the states.

         10  This statement is not meant to impugn the Council on

         11  the Arts and Humanities Association on Staten Island

         12  at all.  These dedicated individuals that staff the

         13  Information Booth at the ferry terminal every day

         14  work tirelessly promoting the Snug Harbor Cultural

         15  Center, Staten Island Museum, The Alice Austen

         16  House, The Tibetan Museum, The Staten Island Zoo,

         17  The Conference House, the list goes on and on.  The

         18  issue is not their effort, it is the lack of

         19  advertising in the terminals.

         20                 I have been informed that Borough

         21  President Molinaro and his staff are presently

         22  working on a promotional video that they hope to

         23  display one day in the terminals in an effort to

         24  address this situation.

         25                 It was also relayed to me that they
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          2  are presently working with the City on additional

          3  information kiosks.  These are all worthwhile and

          4  exciting endeavors, and we would like to thank him

          5  for his dedication to promoting tourism in our

          6  Borough, but in the interim, the lack of signage at

          7  the current information booth at the Whitehall

          8  Terminal needs to be addressed immediately.  The

          9  lighting is dim, The Council in the Arts' banner is

         10  hidden in the back of the booth, and the pole

         11  obstructs people's views inside.  There should be

         12  signage upon entering the terminal and at the top of

         13  the stairs.  There should also be ample signage at

         14  the St. George Ferry Terminal explaining how to

         15  visit the numerous cultural destinations on the

         16  Island, many of which are just one to two miles

         17  within the terminal.  This is an easy fix that the

         18  City should be able to execute in a short amount of

         19  time.

         20                 I conclude my statement by merely

         21  stating that the time has come for the City to begin

         22  looking at the Staten Island Ferry Terminals as

         23  possible destination points, and not merely just a

         24  commuter hub.  I reiterate my earlier statement that

         25  there are 19 million people traveling through those
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          2  terminals every year.  It would be nice if the

          3  powers that be started to look at that number as an

          4  opportunity, and not merely an impressive statistic.

          5                 I'd also like to echo what Councilman

          6  McMahon and Oddo said in regards to Ms. Lannon

          7  taking over the project.  We are excited, and I've

          8  only been doing government affairs work for

          9  two-and-a-half years, so I'm still an optimist.  We

         10  look forward to working with the Committee and Ms.

         11  Lannon going forward in 2008 to help remedy this

         12  situation.

         13                 Thank you for the time.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank

         15  you, gentlemen, and thank you all for coming up,

         16  especially the civilians who are volunteering their

         17  time.

         18                 This is Councilman McMahon speaking

         19  now, and I've been asked to take the Chair by

         20  Council Member White, the Chairman, who had to step

         21  out for a moment.

         22                 Let me just ask you guys a few quick

         23  questions. The notion that we now form a committee

         24  to review the RFPs and move that process forward,

         25  what are your thoughts on that?
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          2                 MR. MONTALBANO:  I think it's a good

          3  idea to review the RFPs.  My concern is, and I think

          4  Mr. McMahon, you expressed this earlier about, it's

          5  just added more delay.  I reserve my reservations

          6  about Ms. Lannon, and what her representations were.

          7  Frankly, I just look at it as putting another

          8  bureaucrat in charge, and now they have another

          9  reason to delay matters, and I'm not quite sure when

         10  you're talking about the RFP exactly  --  you know,

         11  she talked about the people that have already been

         12  approached, and she even admitted that it doesn't

         13  take a rocket scientist to figure out what it is

         14  that you want.  Why can't they, and maybe in

         15  conjunction with going out and actively solicit

         16  people to come in there, we talked about the cell

         17  phone shop, and Councilman Oddo, you had a

         18  constituent who wanted to put a cell shop in there.

         19  So, why don't you go out and say,  knock, knock,

         20  would you like to come into the ferry terminal? I

         21  think that that probably would be a good vendor to

         22  be there.  There are other like vendors like that.

         23                 So, my only concern, review is

         24  wonderful, it's fine, except for if it causes delay.

         25                 MR. HYLAND:  From the Chamber's point
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          2  of view, I think they'd like to review the RFPs.  I

          3  think it's a good idea. Any developer we talk to,

          4  especially the ones prominent to the North Shore,

          5  expressed reservations over cost, the cost structure

          6  attributed to these leases, the build-out costs,

          7  what is the owner going to be responsible for?  I

          8  think that all has to be vetted through before these

          9  get released again, and they sit stagnant all that

         10  time.

         11                 I think we should really make every

         12  effort to make sure these RFPs and these leases are

         13  business-friendly.  The last ones from what anybody

         14  I spoke to, were absolutely not.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Let me

         16  just note that we've been joined by Council Member

         17  David Weprin, the Finance Chairman, from Queens.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Just on the

         19  point, if we go back a little bit down the coastline

         20  when the City put out the RFP for what is now the

         21  Vanderbilt, the first time around, remember?  No one

         22  responded because the costs were outrageous.  I

         23  think we're all confident that people want to be in

         24  this terminal, but the past gives us  --  there are

         25  some ugly reminders in the past of what could
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          2  happen.

          3                 MR. HYLAND:  And I think that's

          4  probably the key point that ties everything

          5  together, is that if the review would result in a

          6  more realistic RFP, then the review by those of us,

          7  the common folks, then that would be a good thing.

          8                 If all it does is contribute to the

          9  delay, and the RFP still goes out with unrealistic

         10  requests for leasing dollars, you know, then I think

         11  we all would be very unhappy about that, but at this

         12  point, we have to take that chance.  That's where we

         13  are.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Right,

         15  but I believe, and given the admitted to mistakes,

         16  admitted to by Ms. Lannon by her predecessors

         17  regarding the restaurant at the ball park, as Jim

         18  Oddo mentioned, the situation at the Vanderbilt, I

         19  think it's better to at least take a week and review

         20  it because if it is doomed to fail, I'd rather know

         21  that now then six months from now when nobody

         22  responds, and we're set back again.

         23                 MR. HYLAND: Yes, I just echo that,

         24  Councilman McMahon and I on the way in talked about

         25  some of the conversations I had.  Again, some of
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          2  these terms; breakpoint leases, key money, when you

          3  can audit the books, when you can't, are a little

          4  beyond me, but the term key money came up to me from

          5  two developers.  That the last leases, they wanted

          6  key money, they wanted you to put up $25,000 to

          7  $50,000, depending on the square footage, just to

          8  have the right to go in.  Then they wanted to charge

          9  you $40 and north a square foot, and pay the

         10  build-out costs, and they wondered why people

         11  weren't responding.  People right across the street

         12  that own property were telling me it's ludicrous.  I

         13  mean, so I think it definitely needs to be vetted

         14  through.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  All

         16  right.  And then they have this plan of having, sort

         17  of that taste of Staten Island there, but as Patrick

         18  said, if you talk to the individual Staten Island

         19  restaurants, it's a matter of dollars and cents. If

         20  there's incentive for them to go, they'll go.  If

         21  it's cost prohibitive, they won't go.

         22                 Jim, do you have any follow-up

         23  questions?

         24                 Well, I really have got to thank you

         25  guys again, and Mr. Kennedy, we are going to get you
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          2  that slice of pizza. But I really want to say we

          3  appreciate you guys coming down very, very much.

          4  Thank you.

          5                 MR. HYLAND:  Thank you for having

          6  this forum.

          7                 MR. KENNEDY:  Thank you, we

          8  appreciate it.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  We have

         10  one more person, Jeff Gallo, a citizen from Staten

         11  Island.

         12                 Jeff Gallo, are you here? Hold on.

         13                 Ms. Hanks, do you wish to testify?

         14                 MS. HANKS:  Yes.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  No?  Oh

         16  okay, that's Kamillah Hanks from the Downtown Staten

         17  Island Council, go ahead.

         18                 MS. HANKS: Yes, the Downtown Staten

         19  Island Council.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Go ahead.

         21                 MS. HANKS:  Thank you for allowing us

         22  to have this opportunity to speak about the ferry

         23  terminal issues.

         24                 My name is Kamillah Hanks, and I am

         25  the Executive Director of the Downtown Staten Island
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          2  Council.

          3                 It's been a really tough way to go, I

          4  mean mainly because of our members that we represent

          5  are having lots of issues with just staying alive

          6  because of the lack of tourism, the lack of people

          7  coming off the ferry, the fact that it is the

          8  cornerstone of economic revitalization of the

          9  Downtown area is solely dependent on what happens at

         10  the Staten Island Ferry.

         11                 So I mean, it's a no-brainer, as far

         12  as I'm concerned.  I also remember when you can go

         13  to David's Cookies and you could get a hot dog, and

         14  I went to school, I took the ferry for 14 or 15

         15  years, and this is horrible.  When I worked with the

         16  Staten Island Museum, it was the same issue.  The

         17  signage wasn't there.  I can't tell you how many

         18  tourists come off the boat, and they are not

         19  speaking English, and they just do not understand

         20  where to go and what to do, and there's just dollars

         21  that are just being missed.  It's a no-brainer.

         22                 Thank you for allowing me to have

         23  this opportunity to speak.  So, you guys can go eat.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank

         25  you, Ms. Hanks.
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          2                 Any questions?

          3                 Okay, I want to thank my colleagues,

          4  Council Member Weprin, Council Member Oddo, and John

          5  Smyth, the great new Counsel to the Committee, and

          6  Chairman White for holding this Committee, and the

          7  ever wonderful Sergeants-At-Arms, and on behalf of

          8  Chairman White, I hereby adjourn this hearing.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 2:10 p.m.)
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